
PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD OF THE 
GRAND FORKS/EAST GRAND FORKS 

METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION 
Wednesday, June 16th, 2010 – 12:00 Noon 

Grand Forks County Commissioners Chambers 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
Gary Malm, Chairman, called the June 16th, 2010, meeting of the MPO Executive Policy Board 
to order at 12:00 p.m. 
 
CALL OF ROLL 
 
On a Call of Roll the following members were present:  Gary Malm, Steve Adams, Warren 
Strandell, Dick Grassel, Mike Powers, and Greg Leigh.   
 
Absent were:  Art Bakken and Doug Christensen. 
 
Guest(s) present were:  Dean Rau, Assistant Grand Forks City Engineer. 
 
Staff present were:  Earl Haugen, GF/EGF MPO Executive Director; Nancy Ellis, GF/EGF MPO 
Planner, Senior; Matt Leal, GF/EGF MPO Intern; Aaron Nelson, GF/EGF MPO Intern; and 
Peggy McNelis, GF/EGF Office Manager. 
 
DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM 
 
Chairman Malm declared a quorum was present.   
 
PRESENTATION OF LETTER OF APPRECIATION FOR ART BAKKEN 
 
Malm said that he has a letter of appreciation he intended to present to Art Bakken, however, 
since Mr. Bakken is not here today it will be mailed to him. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE MAY 19TH, 2010, MINUTES OF THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY 
BOARD 
 
CHAIRMAN MALM ASKED IF THERE WERE ANY CHANGES OR CORRECTIONS TO 
THE MAY 19TH, 2010, MINUTES OF THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD.  
HEARING NONE, CHAIRMAN MALM DECLARED THE MINUTES APPROVED, AS 
SUBMITTED. 
 
Voting Aye: Grassel, Powers, Malm, Adams, Leigh, and Strandell. 
Voting Nay: None.   
 
 
 

1 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, June 16th, 2010 
 
 

 2 
 

MATTER OF APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO THE 2010-2013 T.I.P. 
 
Haugen reported that this agenda item is amending the current T.I.P. document to account for 
some FTA funds that were already awarded to the Cities Area Transit.  He stated that they had 
previously been awarded about $1,000,000, and had programmed some improvements to their 
bus barn already, and they have good bids, so they are now requesting the ability to use the 
remaining dollars, thus the need to amend the 2010-2013 T.I.P. to reflect those additional 
projects.  
 
Haugen referred to the staff report, included in the packet, and pointed out that the Cities Area 
Transit is proposing to add the following projects using FTA 5309 funds totaling $286,000.  The 
projects include: 
 

1. $230,000 to install some basic Automatic Vehicle Location devices on our buses 
and paratransit vehicles.   

2. $18,000 to fill-in a pit at the bus barn. 
3. $38,000 to purchase two non-revenue service vehicles.  

 
Haugen stated that a public hearing was held at the Technical Advisory Committee last 
Wednesday, and no comments were received from the public, so we are recommending approval 
of this T.I.P. amendment. 
 
Leigh asked they used the pit that is being filled in at the bus barn for.  Haugen responded that 
they used it to service the vehicles.  Leigh asked who services the vehicles now.  Haugen 
responded that they still service the vehicles there, but that they had two pits, and only need one, 
so they want to fill one of them in. 
 
MOVED BY LEIGH, SECONDED BY ADAMS TO APPROVE THE AMENDMENT TO 
THE 2010-2013 T.I.P., AS SUBMITTED. 
 
Voting Aye: Grassel, Powers, Malm, Adams, Leigh, and Strandell. 
Voting Nay: None. 
 
MATTER OF APPROVAL OF PROPOSED MODIFICATION TO DRAFT 
MINNESOTA 2011-2014 T.I.P. 
 
Ellis reported that we have been fortunate enough in East Grand Forks to be awarded 
Transportation Enhancement dollars for 2011, 2012, and 2013, for three different projects.  She 
explained, however, that the 2011 project is a continued bikepath that would run on, or along the 
5th Avenue N.W. off-ramp, go along 8th, and connect over to where the trailhead is to close the 
connection, however in order for this project to be done we would need to do the full-intersection 
at 5th Avenue N.W. project first, and at this time that project has been slated for the 2014 City 
Sub-Target, and may actually be moved back even further, or not done at all.  She stated, then,  
 
 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, June 16th, 2010 
 
 

 3 
 

that in order for us to ensure we don’t lose the 2011 transportation enhancement dollars, we are  
requesting we be able to move the 2012 project to 2011, and the 2011 project to 2012.  She 
explained that the 2012 project involves the continuation of sidewalks along DeMers Avenue 
from where the Merit Care Pracs building is across Gateway Drive in order to make 
improvements for pedestrians and to finish off the sidewalks on the Burger King side up to 14th.   
 
Grassel asked where the sidewalks would be located on the McDonald’s side of the street.  Ellis 
responded that they would be located on the berm if MNDOT agrees, or they will need to be 
extended into the frontage road.  Leigh asked if she meant they would be located on the median.  
Ellis responded that they would be placed where the curb is at this time, which would mean 
decreasing the size of the frontage road by four or five feet.  Grassel asked if they would be 
striping it.  Ellis responded that it would not, that it would be an actual sidewalk, so they would 
be adding sidewalk, and then putting in a new curb, unless they get permission from the 
landowners to put the sidewalk on their property.  
 
Ellis reported that on the west side of the street there is already sidewalk there, so the sidewalk 
could actually lead on the frontage road, heading east/west towards 5th rather than heading 
north/south up to 14th, so it would go across to the Top Quality lot, and then head east/west along 
there.  She added that we already have right-of-way there so there wouldn’t be any additional 
costs for that. 
 
MOVED BY GRASSEL, SECONDED BY STRANDELL TO APPROVE THE PROPOSED 
MODIFICATION TO THE DRAFT MINNESOTA 2011-2014 T.I.P., AS SUBMITTED. 
 
Voting Aye: Grassel, Powers, Malm, Adams, Leigh, and Strandell. 
Voting Nay: None. 
 
Strandell asked if this doesn’t have to be approved by the Area Transportation Partnership.  Ellis 
responded it does.  She added that now that the T.I.P. has been amended to include it, it will need 
to be submitted to the ATP for their approval as well.  Strandell asked if there would be any 
issues with the City coming up with the local share for this because they have had a couple of 
instances where that was the case.  Ellis responded that as far as she knows there shouldn’t be 
any problem with their getting the local share from the City, adding that she has talked to Scott 
Huizanga, the City Administrator, about this project.   
 
Ellis reported that she is also planning on meeting with the MNDOT District Engineer, the 
Traffic Engineer, and the MNDOT MPO Planner, to discuss the fact that MNDOT has made a 
pledge to follow an ADA transition plan, and make improvements, and the intersection at Central 
and Gateway does not meet ADA standards, so if they are looking at project to do for ADA 
funds, they may look at doing that intersection in 2011, concurrent with our sidewalks, and may 
pay for that intersection. 
 
 
 
 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, June 16th, 2010 
 
 

 4 
 

MATTER OF APPROVAL OF DRAFT NORTH DAKOTA 2011-2014 T.I.P. 
 
Haugen reported that, although we finally have a Draft 2011-2014 T.I.P. for North Dakota, there 
are still some programs that we have not been notified of any funding being awarded, but it is a  
draft and we still have a couple of months to produce the final document. 
 
Haugen stated that there were some extensive revisions to the draft, which was put out in the 
public notice, and at the Technical Advisory Committee meeting last week, we extended the 
public comment period until noon today.  He said, however, that in both cases no public 
comments were received.  He explained that the reason for their extending the public comment 
period was due to all the changes that were noted between the draft that we presented for public 
comment, and the changes that occurred at the Technical Advisory Committee, therefore we 
decided to extend the public comment period an additional week, but, again, we received no 
comments. 
 
Haugen reported that, rather than going through all of the projects, he will just highlight a few 
things of importance: 
 

1. Page 36 – At the bottom right corner, it shows that we have a total of $45,000,000 
in projects, but when you look at the individual years it shows that we have a 
rough average of about $12,000,000 per year.  Of that $12,000,000 each year, 
$2,500,000 is generally for transit operations and capital projects, with the 
remaining, almost $10,000,000, is for street and road improvements.   

 
Grassel asked if the reconstruction of the Minnesota/4th Avenue Corridor was included.  Haugen 
responded it was not at this time.  Malm asked why it wasn’t included.  Haugen responded that 
the City of Grand Forks has not forwarded it to the MPO as a priority project.  Malm asked 
where the City is on this issue today.  Rau responded that he isn’t sure when they are actually 
looking at maybe doing that corridor, but it most likely won’t be until somewhere in the 2014-
2015 range.   
 
Grassel commented that that means this project has been waiting for twenty years.  He said that 
he doesn’t mean to sound critical, but he knows that conversations regarding that project started 
back in 1994.  Rau stated that they are currently waiting for a final ruling from the National 
Historical Society on the removal of the granitoid.  Grassel said that he knows that there are 
quonsets full of that stuff, so he doesn’t understand what the issue is.  Malm added that he 
thought that an agreement had been reached concerning the granitoid issue.  Haugen responded 
that the State Historical Society came to an agreement, but they then forwarded the issue to the 
National Historical Society for their approval as well.   
 
Haugen reported that the agreement that we have would require that we keep essentially one 
block of 4th Avenue granitoid as part of the designated historic pavement area.  Powers asked 
why they wouldn’t want to preserve the granitoid on a side street instead.  Haugen responded  
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, June 16th, 2010 
 
 

 5 
 

that the are preserving the granitoid on some of the sidestreets as well, but they are 
decommissioning a significant amount of granitoid.  He stated that he would forward the board 
the map that shows what is going to remain, and what is going to be deregistered.   
 
Leigh asked why the City of Grand Forks can’t dictate how they want their own streets.  He 
pointed out that there is granotoid just to the north of Minnesota/4th.  He asked why they couldn’t 
just designate that neighborhood as a historic site, and then redo the main artery.  Haugen 
responded that the short answer is the red tape of bureaucracy, and the long answer is that the 
study we produced eighteen months age still provides a good basis as to how that project could 
proceed, so it does show that even if one block remains on the register, we do have a study, and 
we do have the basic agreements in place to allow us to go in and reconstruct that corridor, so by 
having one block left remaining, it does not prohibit the rest of the corridor being reconstructed. 
 

2. Page 28 – Project #13:  With the DeMers Overpass being redone last summer, 
there has been a desire by both the City and the District Office to clean up either 
side to the east and west of the overpass.  This project has been termed “pending” 
or “illustrative” waiting for a federal finance resource to be committed to it.  In 
this document, the State is committing dollars to that project, so the good news is 
it is no longer in limbo, it is now actually being programmed to occur in 2011.  
This project will be improving DeMers Avenue, both east and west of the 
overpass structure.  Grassel asked how much area would be included in this from 
the overpass going west, will it go to the fire station.  Haugen responded it would.  
Grassel asked how much area would be included to the north.  Haugen responded 
that it won’t go very far north, but will come on the east side of the overpass to 
where we had the US 2 microsufacing done.  He added that another part of this 
job will be to some work on the 4th Avenue ramps leading to the overpass 
structure. 

 
Leigh referred to Project #9, and asked what Dynamic Messaging Signs are.  Haugen responded 
that it is another term for variable message signs.  He explained that these are the digital reader 
boards you see along roadways that give various types of transportation messages such as road 
closure information, etc..  Leigh asked how we can get one for people coming into East Grand 
Forks.  Haugen responded that we do have an ITS plan that identifies a few locations, so, like 
everything else, we are working with the District Office to get it prioritized.  He added that up 
until a few weeks ago we didn’t know we would be getting any in North Dakota, and now it will 
happen in 2011, and then in 2012 there is a follow up project that will put one out on US #2, 
west of town. 
 

3. Page 38 – Because that section of DeMers Avenue now has a committed funding 
source, there are not illustrative projects listed. 

 
Malm referred to Page 25, and asked what a Demand Response Vehicle is.  Haugen responded 
that they are the Dial-A-Ride or Senior Rider Program vehicles.   
 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, June 16th, 2010 
 
 

 6 
 

Powers referred to Project #5, the remark section which states “this request is in anticipation of a 
solicitation for New Freedom urban transit funds”, and asked what New Freedom is.  Haugen 
responded that it is a federal transit program, whose funding is for a specific population group, 
the disabled or elderly.     
 
MOVED BY LEIGH, SECONDED BY ADAMS TO APPROVE THE DRAFT NORTH 
DAKOTA 2011-2014 T.I.P., AS SUBMITTED. 
 
Voting Aye: Grassel, Powers, Malm, Adams, Leigh, and Strandell. 
Voting Nay: None.      
 
MATTER OF APPROVAL OF THE DRAFT FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION MAP 
FOR EAST GRAND FORKS 
 
Haugen reported that in the past couple of months staff has been communicating that we will be 
presenting a functional classification map for our Minnesota side, and that is what we are doing 
today. 
 
Haugen distributed an updated copy of the Draft Functional Classification Map for East Grand 
Forks, and explained that the area highlighted in blue, 23rd Street N.W., is the one significant 
change between this map and the map that was included in the packet.  He stated that they had 
been proposing that 23rd Street N.W. be made a principle arterial, but MNDOT would not 
support that at this time, so it is being maintained in it’s current status as a collector roadway.   
 
Haugen said that, with that highlighted change, both the Technical Advisory Committee, and 
staff would recommend approval of the Draft Functional Classification Map For East Grand 
Forks.   
 
Grassel asked why MNDOT would not classify 23rd Street N.W. as a principle arterial.  Haugen 
responded that they agreed that as traffic increases on 23rd Street N.W. it would warrant an 
upgrade to a principle arterial, however at this time they just didn’t see the necessary traffic 
volumes to warrant that at this time.  Leigh asked if there would be a difference in funding if it 
were a principle arterial versus it being a collector.  Haugen responded that it would not.  He 
explained that having it functionally classified is the basic eligibility for federal aid, and that is 
what we are achieving with this map by getting these roadways functionally classified to become 
eligible for federal aid, among other reasons as well. 
 
Powers asked if this could change if we did a traffic study.  Haugen responded it could.  He 
added that one of the anticipated outcomes of the 2010 Census is that, currently 23rd Street N.W. 
is the boundary of the Urbanized Area for Grand Forks and East Grand Forks, and with the 2010 
Census, and since the City has already annexed and incorporated land north of 23rd Street N.W., 
that would be one additional reason to revisit the functional classification of this area. 
 
 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, June 16th, 2010 
 
 

 7 
 

Haugen reported that one other thing is that one of the obstacles we were having with functional 
classification, if you will recall, is that we have been working for quite some time on getting our 
digital files reconciled with Minnesota’s digital files, so we are now able to show roadways 
where they are supposed to be showing.  He added that we were also able to get Bygland Road 
and part of U.S. Business 2 to maintain a principle arterial status.  
 
MOVED BY POWERS, SECONDED BY GRASSEL TO APPROVE THE DRAFT 
FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION MAP FOR EAST GRAND FORKS, AS SUBMITTED. 
 
Voting Aye: Grassel, Powers, Malm, Adams, Leigh, and Strandell. 
Voting Nay: None.   
 
MATTER OF CHANGES TO T.I.P. PROJECT SELECTION PROCESS 
 
Ellis reported that they have been working on the NDDOT side, along with Federal Highway and 
the three MPOs, to come up with a better process in terms of T.I.P./S.T.I.P. development and 
how we select and prioritize projects for inclusion in our T.I.P..  She stated that they are now 
beginning the process on the Minnesota side as well.   
 
Ellis pointed out that, as it states in the staff report, project solicitation will be based on a Grand 
Forks/East Grand Forks MPO Application developed cooperatively through the metropolitan 
planning process, or by using an application that would meet the MPO planning process if it 
were developed by another agency, and that we would be able to take those projects, evaluate 
them through our Technical Advisory Committee, prioritize them here, at the Executive Board 
level through scoring worksheets that prove that they do meet our Long Range Transportation 
Plan, and that they meet the needs of our transportation planning process, and then we would put 
them in our T.I.P., after which the MPO would forward them to the State or to the ATP for 
inclusion in their A.T.I.P. or S.T.I.P.   
 
Ellis reported that there are currently some funding programs that do not follow the plan as stated 
in the federal regulations, or in SAFETEA-LU as we are required to do, and so we are hoping to 
work with MNDOT, and the ATP to get them to follow the same process we are required to use.  
She referred to the list of projects, included in the packet and available upon request, and went 
over each briefly, explaining how each program’s current process works, and how it should be.  
 
Ellis commented that, ultimately, we would like to be a part of the process up-front rather than 
just accepting projects that are picked by other people.   
 
Information only. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
 None. 
 
 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
GF/EGF MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
Wednesday, June 16th, 2010 
 
 

 8 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
MOVED BY POWERS, SECONDED BY LEIGH, TO ADJOURN THE JUNE 16TH, 2010, 
MEETING OF THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD AT 12:43 P.M. 
 
Voting Aye: Grassel, Powers, Malm, Adams, Leigh, and Strandell.. 
Voting Nay: None. 
 
Respectfully submitted by, 
 
Peggy McNelis, 
Office Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


	GRAND FORKS/EAST GRAND FORKS
	METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION
	Wednesday, June 16th, 2010 – 12:00 Noon
	Grand Forks County Commissioners Chambers
	CALL TO ORDER
	CALL OF ROLL
	DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM
	PRESENTATION OF LETTER OF APPRECIATION FOR ART BAKKEN
	MATTER OF APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO THE 2010-2013 T.I.P.
	MATTER OF APPROVAL OF PROPOSED MODIFICATION TO DRAFT MINNESOTA 2011-2014 T.I.P.



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


